I. INTRODUCTION 

This case is about the rights of individuals to have access to court to 

challenge illegal development on their neighbor's property. With no notice to 

the neighbors or anyone else in the public, San Juan County approved a 

building permit for respondents Heinrniller and Starneisen to build a second 

story on top of an existing garage on their property. The building permit was 

approved in violation of a number of prohibitions in the San Juan County Code. 

The County now argues that to have their day in Court, neighbors must 

be omniscient in knowing when building permits are approved. The County 

argues that an individual is barred from challenging illegal development on his 

or her neighbor's property when he or she fails to file an appeal within 21 days 

of approval of that development even if the County provided no notice to the 

public of the approval before that deadline. This is obviously inappropriate 

because it is impossible for a person to file an appeal of a decision when that 

person does not know that the decision had been made. 

The County advances a second, parallel argument. According to the 

County, not only should a party be clairvoyant and file judicial appeals before 

notice is provided, but the party should also file administrative appeals (i.e., 

exhaust administrative remedies) before receiving notice. The County's 
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arguments on both counts are wrong. The law does not impose impossible 

burdens on citizens seeking access to the courts. Statutes should not be 

construed to create such absurd results. Indeed, if they were so construed, they 

would violate due process safeguards. 

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

Assignment of Error 

The trial court erred when it granted respondents' motions to dismiss in 

the Order on Respondent Heinmiller, Stameisen, and San Juan County's 

Motions to Dismiss Under CR 12(b) (Feb. 3,2012). 

Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error 

• Land Use Petition is timely when it is filed within 14 days of 

the date that San Juan County provided notice that decision 

was publicly available and 11 days after the decision was first 

mailed to a member of the public. 

• Requirement for exhaustion of administrative remedies can and 

should be excused under LUP A where lack of public notice 

deprived neighboring landowners a fair opportunity to 

participate in the administrative process. 
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III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. San Juan County's Approval of the Building Permit at Issue 
in This Matter 

Wesley Heinmiller and Alan Stameisen (hereinafter collectively 

referred to as "Mr. Heinmiller") applied for a building permit to build a second 

story on top oftheir existing garage on August 8, 2011. CP 38. Mr. Heinmiller 

lives on waterfront property on Orcas Island directly adjacent to property 

owned by appellants Michael Durland, Kathleen Fennell, and Deer Harbor 

Boatworks (hereinafter collectively referred to as "Mr. Durland") and the 

development proposal will have very adverse impacts on Mr. Durland's 

property. CP 34. The County did not provide any notice of the building permit 

application to the public and Mr. Durland was unaware that the application had 

been filed. CP 76. 

Three months later, on November 1,2011, the County approved the 

building permit, BUILDG-II-0175, allowing Mr. Heinmillerto build a second 

story on top of his existing garage. CP 81. At the time, the County did not 

provide any notice that the decision was publicly available nor did it mail the 

decision to any members of the public. CP 76. Mr. Durland was unaware that 

the building permit had been approved and issued. CP 76-77. 
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B. History of Other Development on the HeinmillerlStameisen 
Property 

Over ten years ago, in 2001, Mr. Heinmiller obtained a building permit 

to construct a new garage in place of an old garage on his property. CP 80. 

The building permit for the new garage (Building Permit No. 11983) contained 

the following restrictions: "New garage must be in footprint of old; cannot be 

closer to shoreline." Id. Following the issuance of that earlier building permit 

and construction of the new garage, Mr. Durland believed that Mr. Heinmiller 

had built the new garage in violation of the building permit requirements. CP 

74-75. It appeared that the new garage had been built in a footprint that was 

different from the old garage on their property and Mr. Heinmiller built the new 

garage closer to the shoreline than the old one had been. CP 75. 

On March 22, 2011, Mr. Durland filed a complaint with the County 

requesting that the County proceed with a code enforcement action against 

Mr. Heinmiller for building an illegal structure. CP 75. The County did not 

respond to Mr. Durland's complaint until nearly nine months later, on 

December 15, 2011. Id. The County ultimately denied Mr. Durland's 

complaint. Id. 
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C. Mr. Durland's Public Records Act Request 

On November 3,2011, because the County had not responded to his 

code enforcement complaint, Mr. Durland submitted a public records request 

to San Juan County for documents related to his complaint. CP 75. County 

staff member, Kandy Seldin, responded to Mr. Durland's request on 

November 8, 2011 indicating that she would look into it and get back to him 

in a week. Id. l Having not heard back a week later, Mr. Durland wrote to the 

Public Records Officer, Stan Matthews, on November 15, 2011 and asked 

about the status of his request. CP 76. Mr. Matthews did not respond. Id. 

In the late afternoon of November 22,2011, which unbeknownst to 

Mr. Durland at the time happened to be the same day as the deadline for an 

administrative appeal of building permit BUILDG-11-0 175, the second story 

building permit that he did not know existed, Kandy Seldin sent an e-mail to 

Mr. Durland indicating that the documents that he had requested were ready 

for production. CP 76. She indicated that the documents would be available 

for viewing or as printed copies mailed to him after payment. Id. Mr. 

A public agency is required to respond "promptly" to an information 
request under the Public Disclosure Act. RCW 42.17.320. This has been interpreted to 
mean that the agency has five business days to take one of the following actions: produce the 
records for inspection; deny access to the requested records; or provide a reasonable estimate 
of the additional time necessary to respond to the request. Id. 
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Durland quickly followed up with a check in the mail and asked that she mail 

the documents to him. Id. 

Mr. Durland ultimately received documents in response to his request 

on December 5,2011. CP 76. While he was reviewing the documents, he 

noticed, for the first time, a reference to the building permit for the second 

story on the garage. Id. Thus, Mr. Durland discovered the existence of the 

building permit for the second story on the garage for the first time when he 

was reviewing documents that he received on December 5, 2011 in response to 

his public disclosure request. This was also the first time that the County had 

given any notice to anyone in the public that the decision was publicly 

available. Id. 

Because the documents originally received by Mr. Durland did not 

contain a copy of the building permit, Mr. Durland requested a copy of the 

second story building permit from the County on December 7, 2011. CP 77. 

The County Office Manager, Lisa Brown, e-mailed a copy of the building 

permit (BUILDG-II-0175) to Mr. Durland on Thursday, December 8, 201l. 

Id. This was the first time that San Juan County mailed a copy of the land use 

decision to anyone in the public. Upon receipt of the permit, Mr. Durland 

learned, for the first time, that on November 1, 2011, without notice to Mr. 
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Durland, San Juan County had approved the requested building permit and 

thereby authorized Mr. Heinmiller to build a second floor addition to the 

existing garage for an office and entertainment area. Id. This had all occurred 

during the time that the County was purportedly conducting a code enforcement 

review on that very same garage. CP 77-78. 

D. Appeals ofthe Building Permit 

After reviewing the permit, it became plainly evident to Mr. Durland 

that it had been issued in violation of numerous San Juan County Code 

provisions. CP 77. Mr. Durland filed a Land Use Petition in Skagit County 

Superior Court pursuant to the Land Use Petition Act (LUPA), ch. 36.70C 

RCW, on December 19,2011. CP 33. 

Mr. Durland also filed an administrative appeal of the building permit 

with the San Juan County Hearing Examiner on December 19, 2011, which 

was within eleven (11) days of Michael Durland's receipt of the building 

permit. CP 101-105. Petitioners filed both appeals concurrently with the 

understanding the LUPA appeal could still be timely filed, but the deadline for 

filing an administrative appeal had passed. He filed the administrative appeal 

nonetheless because he believed at the time that the San Juan County Hearing 
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Examiner had the authority to toll the 21 day deadline for an administrative 

appeal based on the doctrine of equitable tolling? 

In the Skagit County Superior Court matter (which is the matter on 

appeal now), respondents Heinmiller, Stameisen, and San Juan County filed 

motions to dismiss the Land Use Petition on the grounds that it had been 

untimely filed and that petitioners had failed to exhaust their administrative 

remedies. CP 4-8; CP 19-26. The Skagit County Superior Court ultimately 

issued an Order on respondent Heinmiller, Stameisen, and San Juan County's 

Motion to Dismiss under CR 12(b) granting those motions and dismissing the 

matter. CR 161-163. This appeal followed. 

N.ARGUMENT 

The Land Use Petition filed by Mr. Durland was filed in a timely 

manner because it was filed within fourteen days of the date that San Juan 

County provided notice that the building permit approval decision was publicly 

available and eleven days after the decision was first mailed to a member of the 

public, Mr. Durland. Furthermore, the requirement for exhaustion of 

administrative remedies can and should be excused under LUP A where lack of 

public notice deprived the neighboring landowners a fair opportunity to 

2 This ultimately proved to be inaccurate and the Hearing Examiner 
dismissed the appeal for lack of jurisdiction. 
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participate in the administrative process. These issues are addressed in full 

below. 

A. The Land Use Petition was Filed in a Timely Manner by 
Petitioners 

1. A land use decision is timely when it is filed within 
21 days of the "issuance" of the land use decision 

The Land Use Petition Act (LUPA), ch. 36.70C RCW, governs 

judicial review of Washington land use decisions. RCW 36.70C.030. Under 

LUPA, a Land Use Petition must be filed with the Court and served on the 

persons identified in RCW 36.70C.040(2) within 21 days of the issuance of 

the land use decision. RCW 36.70C.040(3). 

The date of issuance of the land use decision is a defined term in 

LUP A. LUP A states: 

(4) For the purposes of this section, the date on which a 
land use decision is issued is: 

(a) Three days after a written decision is mailed by 
the local jurisdiction or, if not mailed, the date on which the 
local jurisdiction provides notice that a written decision is 
publicly available; 

(b) If the land use decision is made by ordinance 
or resolution by a legislative body sitting in a quasi-judicial 
capacity, the date the body passes the ordinance or resolution; 
or 
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(c) Ifneither (a) nor (b) of this subsection applies, 
the date the decision is entered into the public record. 

RCW 36.70C.040(4). 

Thus, to determine when the 21 day clock starts ticking for a LUP A 

appeal, one must look to the above language to determine when the land use 

decision being appealed was "issued." In the case of a written decision, the 

decision is issued three days after that written decision is mailed by the local 

jurisdiction or, if not mailed, the date on which the local jurisdiction provides 

notice that a written decision is publicly available. RCW 36.70C.040(4)(a). 

If the decision is made by ordinance or resolution, the clock starts ticking on 

the date a legislative body passes the ordinance or resolution. RCW 

36.70C.040(4)(b). If neither of those apply, the clock starts ticking on the 

date that the decision is entered into the public record. RCW 

36.70C.040(4)(c). 

The Washington State Supreme Court analyzed the language in RCW 

36.70C.040(4) at some length in Habitat Watch v. Skagit County, 155 Wn.2d 

397, 408-409, 120 P.3d 56 (2005) (hereinafter referred to as "Habitat 

Watch"). In that case, Skagit County approved a special use permit for the 

construction of a golf course in 1993. Id. at 400. The project languished in 

the hands of its first two owners, and by the time respondent Upper Skagit 
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Indian Tribe bought the project and finally began construction in 2002, the 

special use permit had been extended three times. Id. In May, 2002, a 

Habitat Watch member noticed logging activity near the proposed golf course 

site. Id. at 403. This activity came nearly five years after the last properly 

granted permit expired and seven years after the last public hearing on the 

project. Id. By June 5, 2002, Habitat Watch became aware that the golf 

course project was still proceeding at the site despite the long delay since the 

last public hearing. /d. 

Habitat Watch submitted a public disclosure request to Skagit County. 

The County produced documents to Habitat Watch in response to that request 

on June 24, 2002. The records made available to Habitat Watch through its 

public disclosure request on June 24,2002 revealed the existence ofthe third 

extension for the first time to Habitat Watch. Habitat Watch filed a LUP A 

appeal challenging the third extension of the special use permit on August 1, 

2002, but that was well over 21 days after June 24, 2002 - the day it had 

received the response to the records request. 

In reviewing whether the LUP A appeal had been timely filed, the 

Habitat Watch Court focused on the LUP A definition of the date of issuance 

in RCW 36.70C.040(4). /d. at 408-409. In Habitat Watch, the decision on 
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appeal was a written decision and there was nothing in the record that showed 

that the extension decision had been mailed to parties of record (beyond the 

response to the public disclosure request) or otherwise made publicly known, 

nor had it been passed by ordinance or resolution. !d. at 408.3 

The Court concluded that under RCW 36.70C.040(4)(a), which 

applies to written decisions, the decisions on appeal had been, at the very 

latest, issued on June 24, 2002, when the County made them available in 

response to Habitat Watch's public disclosure request. Id. at 409. According 

to the Court, the County's response to the public disclosure request 

constituted notice that a written decision was publicly available pursuant to 

RCW 36.70C.040(4)(a). 

Because Habitat Watch did not file a LUPA petition within 21 days 

after it had received the response to its public disclosure request, the court 

found the petition to be untimely. Id. at 409. The Court suggested, however, 

3 The Habitat Watch Court interpreted RCW 36.70C.040( 4)( c) to apply only 
when a decision is neither written nor made by ordinance or resolution. Habitat Watch at 
408, fn.5. Subsection (c) would include other types of decisions such as decisions made 
orally at a City Council meeting. Id. These decisions would be issued when the minutes 
from the meeting are made open to the public or the decision is otherwise memorialized such 
that it is publicly acceptable. /d. Subsection (c), therefore, did not apply in Habitat Watch 
because the decisions at issue were written and thus could be issued only subsection (a), 
when they were either mailed or notice was given that the decisions were publicly available. 
Habitat Watch at 408. 
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that if they had filed the LUP A appeal within 21 days of their receipt of the 

public disclosure response (Jun. 24, 2002), it would have been timely. Id. 

More recently, referring to Habitat Watch, another Court stated: 

The Supreme Court has suggested that a LUP A appeal filed 
within 21 days of actual notice of certain land use decisions, 
such as [a decision] not requiring notice, may be timely. But, 
here, the Nickums failed to file their LUP A petition within 21 
days of their actual notice of the permit; thus, we need not 
address this possibility. 

Nickum v. Bainbridge Island, 153 Wn. App. 366, 382, n.11, 223 P.3d 1172 

(2009) (citations omitted), citing Habitat Watch, 155 Wn.2d at 409 and n. 7. 

2. Petitioners filed the Land Use Petition within 21 days 
of "issuance" of the building permit approval as that 
term is defined in LUP A 

Appellants Michael Durland, Kathleen Fennell, and Deer Harbor 

Boatworks filed the Land Use Petition at issue in this matter within 21 days 

of the County's "issuance" of the building permit as that term is defined in 

RCW 36.70C.040(4). 

In this case, there is no dispute that the decision was a ''written'' 

decision and, therefore, RCW 36.70C.040(4)(a) applies. As described above, 

with respect to "written" decisions, that provision states that the date of 

issuance of a land use decision is "three days after a written decision is mailed 

by the local jurisdiction or, if not mailed, the date on which the local 
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jurisdiction provides notice that a written decision is publicly available." RCW 

36.70C.040(4)(a). Building Pennit (BUILDG-II-0175) was "issued" either on 

December 5,2011 or December 11,2011. The County did not provide any 

public notice of the building pennit approval and did not mail the written 

building pennit to anyone in the public before either of those two dates. The 

first "mailing" of the building pennit to a member of the public was on 

December 8, 2011, when the County Office Manager, Lisa Brown, e-mailed a 

copy of the building pennit to Mr. Durland. Therefore, the written decision 

was mailed by the local jurisdiction for the first time on December 8,2011 (if 

e-mail is considered mailing). Three days after that mailing is December 11, 

2011. Therefore, the 21 day clock for filing a LUPA appeal of the building 

pennit at issue began on December 11,2011 - three days after the County 

mailed the decision to Mr. Durland. This means that the deadline for filing a 

LUPA appeal of the building pennit was January 2,2012. Petitioners filed 

their LUP A appeal on December 19, 2011 - long before that deadline. 

If e-mail is not considered "mailing" under RCW 36.70C.040(4)(a), 

then the date of issuance of the building pennit was December 5, 2011. As 

RCW 36.70C.040(4)(a) states, if a written decision is not mailed, the date of 

issuance of that decision is the "date on which the local jurisdiction provides 
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notice that a written decision is publicly available." As stated above, the 

County did not mail the building pennit to anyone in the public at any time 

before e-mailing it to Mr. Durland, nor did it issue public notice of the 

approval. The very first time that the County provided notice that the building 

pennit was publicly available was December 5, 2011 when Mr. Durland 

received the response to his public disclosure request. That would make the 

deadline for a LUP A appeal December 26, 2011. The LUP A appeal was filed 

on December 19, 2011 -long before that deadline.4 

It is worth repeating that San Juan County did not mail the written 

decision to anyone in the public, nor did it provide any notice that the written 

decision was publicly available at any time before notifying Mr. Durland of its 

existence via a public records response and ultimately mailing it to Mr. Durland 

on December 8, 2011. The date of issuance is three days after a written 

decision is mailed, or on the date on which the local jurisdiction provides notice 

to the public as a whole that a written decision was available. Therefore, the 

4 
If the building pennit were not characterized as a "written decision," the 21 

day clock would not have started ticking until the building pennit was "entered into the public 
record." The building pennit here was never "entered into the public record." At the very least, 
it could be said that it was entered into the public record when it was made available in response 
to a public disclosure request. 
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date of issuance of the decision was either December 5, 2011 or December 11, 

2011 and the LUP A petition was filed before both of those dates. 

B. Considerations of Fairness and Practicality Call for an 
Exception to the Exhaustion Requirement 

1. The requirement for exhaustion of administrative 
remedies under the Land Use Petition Act 

The Land Use Petition Act generally requires that a petitioner exhaust 

administrative remedies prior to filing an appeal in Superior Court. 

Specifically, LUP A states, in relevant part: 

Standing to bring a land use petition under this chapter is 
limited to the following persons:

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