No. 68453-1-I

# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# MICHAEL DURLAND, KATHLEEN FENNELL, and DEER HARBOR BOATWORKS,

Appellants,

v.

# SAN JUAN COUNTY, WES HEINMILLER, and ALAN STAMEISEN,

Respondents.

### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS**

John H. Wiegenstein, WSBA #21201 Elisha S. Smith, WSBA #29210 HELLER WIEGENSTEIN PLLC 144 Railroad Ave., Suite 210 Edmonds, WA 98020-4121 (425) 778-2525 (425) 778-2566 FAX Attorneys for Respondents



#

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

RCW 36.70C.060 (emphasis added). See also, Ward v. Bd. of Cnty. Comm'r, Skagit Cnty., 86 Wn.App. 266, 270-71, 936 P.2d 42 (1997).

Here, Durland failed to exhaust administrative remedies by failing to see the administrative appeal process through, and then appealing from a "final" "land use decision." Exhaustion is a prerequisite to obtaining a decision that qualifies as a decision reviewable under LUPA. Stanzel v. City of Puyallup, 150 Wn.App 835, 841, 209 P.3d 534 (2009), rev. denied, 227 P.3d 852 (2010). To allow otherwise would authorize premature judicial intrusion into land use decisions. See, Grandmaster Sheng-Yen Lu v. King Cnty., 110 Wn.App. 92, 101, 38 P.3d 1040 (2002). Because Durland failed to see the administrative process through, he lacked standing to bring his appeal in the superior court.

C. Durland's faulty appeal to the superior court was also untimely

Durland did not have standing to bring his appeal in the first place, but even if he did, the appeal was untimely. RCW 36.70C.040 requires that the petition be filed within 21 days of a land use decision, or else be barred. The statute states, in pertinent part:

Commencement of review - Land use petition - Procedure

- (1) Proceedings for review under this chapter shall be commenced by filing a land use petition in superior court.
- (2) A land use petition is barred, and the court may not grant review, unless the petition is timely filed with the court and timely served on the following persons who shall be parties to the review of the land use petition:

...

- (3) The petition is timely if it is filed and served on all parties listed in subsection (2) of this section within twenty-one days of the issuance of the land use decision.
- (4) For the purposes of this section, the date on which a land use decision is issued is:
- (a) Three days after a written decision is mailed by the local jurisdiction or, if not mailed, the date on which the local jurisdiction provides notice that a written decision is publicly available;
- (b) If the land use decision is made by ordinance or resolution by a legislative body sitting in a quasi-judicial capacity, the date the body passes the ordinance or resolution; or
- (c) If neither (a) nor (b) of this subsection applies, the date the decision is entered into the public record.

RCW 36.70C.040 (emphasis added).

LUPA is the codification of the strong and long-recognized public policy of administrative finality in land use decisions. <u>James v. Cnty. of Kitsap</u>, 154 Wn.2d 574, 589, 115 P.3d 286 (2005). The purpose and policy of definite time limits is to allow property owners to proceed

with assurance in developing their property. <u>Id</u>. LUPA is the exclusive means of judicial review of land use decisions, with specific, limited exceptions. RCW 36.70C.030. Under LUPA, a land use petition is barred and cannot be reviewed unless the petition is filed within 21 days of issuance of the land use decision. Because LUPA prevents a court from reviewing an untimely petition, a land use decision becomes valid once the opportunity to challenge has passed. <u>Wenatchee Sportsmen Ass'n v. Chelan Cnty.</u>, 141 Wn.2d 169, 181, 4 P.3d 123 (2000). Even illegal decisions must be challenged in a timely manner. <u>Habitat Watch v. Skagit Cnty.</u>, 155 Wn.2d 397, 407, 120 P.3d 56 (2005).

Thus, even if this Court were to find that the subject matter of this appeal was a "land use decision," Durland's superior court action was filed too late, and was therefore time-barred.

D. <u>Durland's arguments on appeal concerning a lack of proper notice and lack of due process have already been flatly rejected by Washington courts interpreting LUPA</u>

While the above law should be dispositive, Durland raises other issues on appeal, and basically asks this Court to disregard established law. Ultimately, Durland's arguments about a lack of notice and due process fail. Controlling Washington law shows that these arguments have no merit, and Durland has not demonstrated any basis upon which this

Court could or should decide differently.

1. The permit was issued, and became public record, on November 1, 2011: the date of the permit issuance to Heinmiller

The permit was clearly a public record when granted. It is axiomatic that Durland obtained what were <u>already</u> "public records" in his public records request.

2. Durland was not entitled to personal notice of the permit, and a lack of personal notice did not deprive him of due process

Durland argues that his due process rights have been violated.

Appellant's Opening Brief, at 25. Yet at the hearing before the superior court, Durland's counsel conceded that this was not so:

And we're not even arguing due process. Frankly I think there's a due process violation but the court's [sic] have established that if this court decides there is no jurisdiction then this court doesn't have the jurisdiction to decide on due process issues.

VRP 13 (emphasis added). To the extent that the Petitioners are now making a different -- and directly contradictory -- argument than that made to the superior court, it should not be considered.

If this Court does consider the argument, it should be rejected. San Juan County has no duty to notify neighbors of its decisions on permits.

Neither does LUPA require notice of building permit issuance to

neighbors. Asche, supra. The statute of limitations clock set forth in LUPA starts ticking regardless of actual notice to neighbors.

Asche is instructive on this issue. In that case, the trial court dismissed a LUPA petition filed by the Asches as untimely. The Asches owned adjoining property to the Bloomquists, and the Asches complained about a building permit that Kitsap County granted to the Asches on September 9, 2004. The permit was issued in regard to a house that the Bloomquists wanted to build on their property, and the Asches complained that the permit violated various zoning ordinances and would injure them by blocking their Mount Rainier view. Asche, 132 Wn.App. at 788-89. The Asches did not receive notice of the issuance of the building permit. They complained that they did not have notice of the permit approval until they saw construction and contacted the Bloomquists' builder; and that when they contacted the County, the County "told them not to hire an attorney and that the County would 'handle it' without an attorney." Id. The Asches did not file their LUPA petition until about five months after the building permit was issued, on February 2, 2005. Id. at 789<sup>2</sup>.

5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> While this decision indicates that a decision on building permits can be a "land use decision" if it complies with RCW 36.70C.020(1)(a)-(c), there is no indication that the County Code at issue in that case required appeals to be brought to a higher level within the County before filing a LUPA petition in Superior Court. This is unlike the case at bar

In Asche, the parties agreed that the date the permit was granted was the date of "issuance" under LUPA (Id. at 796; 802, FN 4); and significantly, although the date of issuance in that case was not disputed, the Court confirmed that that was the date of issuance under RCW 36.70C.040(3) despite the Asches' complaints about lack of notice of the permit. Id. at 795.

Similar to what Durland alleges, the Asches also asserted that if LUPA barred their challenge to the permit, their procedural due process rights were violated because they had no notice of the building permit's issuance. <u>Id</u>. However, the Court found that neither LUPA nor the County regulations required notice to neighbors of the issuance of building permits. <u>Id</u>. With respect to that argument, the Court found:

Nonetheless, the Asches' due process argument fails. Our Supreme Court has established a bright-line rule in <u>Habitat Watch</u>; LUPA applies even when the litigant complains of lack of notice under the procedural due process clause. We note that Habitat Watch had been given notice and had participated in proceedings to oppose the special use permit. <u>Habitat Watch</u>, 155 Wash.2d at 402, 120 P.3d 56. Then, in two instances, Habitat Watch was not given notice required by the local ordinance and therefore did not have the opportunity to challenge the special use permit's extension. <u>Habitat Watch</u>, 155 Wash.2d at 403, 120 P.3d 56. The court held that despite the lack of notice, LUPA barred Habitat Watch's challenges.

in that San Juan County requires appeals on building permits to be brought to the Hearing Examiner as the highest level of authority to render a decision respecting building permits.

Habitat Watch, 155 Wash.2d at 401, 120 P.3d 56. The court stressed that LUPA's "statute of limitations begins to run on the date a land use decision is issued," Habitat Watch, 155 Wash.2d at 408, 120 P.3d 56, and that "even illegal decisions must be challenged in a timely, appropriate manner." Habitat Watch, 155 Wash.2d at 407, 120 P.3d 56. Given that position, we are constrained to hold that the Asches' due process challenge fails. Having failed to file a land use petition within 21 days of the building permit's issuance, they have lost the right to challenge its validity.

Id. at 798-99; see also, p. 796.

Other Washington courts have found similarly. See, e.g., See, Applewood Estates Homeowners Ass'n v. City of Richland 166 Wn.App. 161, 269 P.3d 388 (2012) (reversing trial court's decision not to dismiss LUPA petition based on untimeliness; citing to Asche, Habitat Watch, and Samuel's Furniture<sup>3</sup>; court confirmed LUPA does not require individualized notice for the 21-day clock to begin; that Washington has a strong public policy of supporting administrative finality in land use decisions; and that it is up to the legislature -- which is presumed to be aware of court decisions interpreting LUPA -- to change any provisions regarding notice, or the 21-day clock); Nickum v. City of Bainbridge Island, 153 Wn.App. 366, 223 P.3d 1172 (2009) (affirming trial court's dismissal of LUPA action for lack of standing due to failure to exhaust administrative remedies; and confirming that trial court lacked jurisdiction

to hear the matter, noting "...21 day LUPA deadline is absolute" and untimely filing of an appeal prevents a superior court from reviewing the same, and that LUPA's "...time limits also apply to due process claims").

E. A county's response to a public records request does not delay LUPA's statute of limitations clock after a record has become a public record

Contrary to Durland's assertions, no Washington court has held that where a member of the public does not receive actual notice of a permit at the time it issues, the "issuance" date of the permit is the date that he receives a copy of it in a public records disclosure request, or three days after it is mailed to him, or at some other date when the complaining person chooses to inquire and obtains actual notice of the issuance.

In support of his argument that the "issuance" date was later than the permit was issued, Durland relies heavily on <u>Habitat Watch v. Skagit Cnty.</u>, 155 Wn.2d 397, 120 P.3d 56 (2005). Oddly enough, Durland actually relies almost exclusively on this case, where his counsel had conceded to the superior court that: "<u>Habitat Watch</u> doesn't really apply here." VRP 12.

Durland's counsel was correct -- the case "doesn't really apply," as there is no holding in the case to support his position. In that case, the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Samuel's Furniture, Inc. v. Dep't of Ecology, 147 Wn.2d 440, 54 P.3d 1194 (2002), amended on denial of reconsideration by 63 P.3d 764 (2003).

court noted that it was unclear when and if the decisions at issue were entered in the public record. Id. at 408. The specific decisions at issue were time extensions of a special use permit. Contrary to what Durland represents in briefing to this Court, the Habitat Watch court did not find that the date of "issuance" was the date that Habitat Watch received records in response to a public records request; to the contrary, the court found that that date would have been "the very latest" issuance date possible since it was unclear on that record whether and when the decisions had previously been entered into the public record. Id. at 409. In fact, the court specifically noted: "We need not determine when the decisions were issued because even under the last possible date, Habit Watch failed to file a LUPA petition within 21 days." Id. at 409 (FN 6) (emphasis added).

Durland talks at length about Footnote 5 of the court's opinion, in which the court notes that there are "...two possible interpretations of the language in RCW 36.70C.040(4)(c)." One possibility noted by the court is that that provision could be a "catch-all" where subsections (a) and (b) do not apply. A second possibility noted by the court, and one that it found "more likely," is that subsection (c) applies to decisions that are neither written or made by ordinance or resolution, such as an oral decision that

later becomes memorialized in writing. The court noted that under that second possible interpretation, "...subsection (c) would not apply to this case because the decisions at issue were written and thus could not be issued only under subsection (a), when they were either mailed or notice was given that the decisions were publicly available." <u>Id</u>. The court even notes that "...it may not have been possible for the decisions in this case to have been issued via entrance into the public record, depending upon the legislature's intent in designating the three types of issuance in RCW 36.70C.040(4)." <u>Id</u>. at 408. Yet the court does not conclude that the legislature's intent was one way or the other.

This footnote language does not support Durland's position for several reasons. First, it is not a holding. See, Nickum, supra ("Our Supreme Court has suggested that a LUPA appeal filed within 21 days of actual notice of certain land use decisions, such as a SEPA exemption determination not requiring notice, may be timely [citing Habitat Watch]. But, here, the Nickums failed to file their LUPA petition within 21 days of their actual notice of the permit; thus, we need not address this possibility.") 153 Wn.App. at (emphasis added). Further, the Habitat Watch court's language specifically contemplates that the issuance date may have been and probably was earlier -- it's just that the date was not

clear from the record before the court.

Here, unlike the situation in <u>Habitat Watch</u>, there is a clear issuance date: the date of the permit. As of that date, it became public record, and available to anyone who cared to see it. Ultimately, the same scenario as was present in <u>Asche</u> is before this Court now: a building permit was issued by San Juan County to Heinmiller; as was appropriate in <u>Asche</u>, that was its date of issuance; Durland was not entitled to personal notice of the issuance; a lack of personal notice did not deprive him of due process; and Durland has now filed suit too late under the stringent statutory time bar.

# F. <u>Durland fails to establish any basis for an exception to be made regarding LUPA's stringent exhaustion requirement</u>

Durland argues that exceptions should be made for him regarding the exhaustion requirement set forth in LUPA. While the above should be dispositive, Durland's argument fails for multiple additional reasons.

1. Durland's argument is unsupported by adequate legal authority.

The primary argument advanced by Durland is that the phrase "to the extent required by law" in RCW 36.70C.060(2)(d) "clearly refers to the decades of established case law" (Appellants' Brief, at 17) regarding the exhaustion doctrine. In support of that assertion, Durland cites to

numerous non-LUPA or pre-LUPA cases. This assertion lacks merit. Durland cites to no LUPA case that says this. The only rational interpretation of this language is that the exhaustion requirement simply refers to the extent of administrative remedies available at the local level -- i.e., whatever the "highest level of authority" is for considering a land use decision.

LUPA is highly detailed and regards a specialized area of law -land use -- with very specific purposes, including a desire of the
legislature to allow property owners to proceed with assurance in
developing their property and to ensure finality in land use decisions. See,
e.g., James v. Cnty. of Kitsap, supra. These statutes control in land use
cases, and this Court cannot just dismiss these provisions so easily, as
Durland suggests. LUPA cases clearly control over any non-LUPA cases,
and the language of the statute itself must control.

Durland criticizes West v. Stahley, 155 Wn.App. 691, 699, 229 P.3d 943 (2010), review den., 170 Wn.2d 1022 (2011), a recent Division Two case. In that case, the court held that the failure to exhaust administrative remedies is an "absolute bar" to brining a LUPA petition in Superior Court. Id. at 699. Yet Durland fails to mention that review was denied by the Washington Supreme Court in that case -- thus our highest

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